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statesman Talleyrand’s advice to his diplomats, “Above all, not
too much zeal,” would have been well observed in the Federal
Office of Justice in Berne, Switzerland, one day in late Septem-
ber 2009. That day, an official received a call from a police sta-
tion in Zurich. As the Swiss journalist Daniel Binswanger recon-
structed it, a duty officer had read in a newspaper that the Polish
film director Roman Polanski was about to receive a lifetime-
achievement award at the Zurich Film Festival. The newspaper
also mentioned Polanski's outstanding charge in the United States
of unlawful sex with a minor 32 years earlier. “He put Polanski
into the Interpol system, and bingo, there’s an international arrest
warrant. So he does the right thing. He knows it’s not for them to
decide; it has international implications, so he calls Berne. Now,
in Berne they do an incredible thing. They ask Washington if they
really want Polanski. And that’s where they created the disaster”
(The Swiss authorities maintain that Polanski’s arrest followed an
extradition request from the U.S. Department of Justice)
Polanski, now 80, pleaded guilty in California in 1977, and was
sent to the California Institution for Men, in Chino, for a 90-day
evaluation, which he was told by Judge Laurence J. Rittenband
would constitute his full punishment. When Polanski was released
after 42 days, however, the judge said he intended to impose an
additional, “indeterminate” sentence on the director, under a pe-

he could do so, Polanski, who had his passport and was not on
bail, flew to his home in Paris. A bench warrant has been out for
his arrest ever since. Because the judge had acted on a judicial
promise when he sent him to Chino, Polanski was never officially
sentenced, and that is the crux of the case. Threatened with djsd.
qualification for serial misconduct, Rittenband resigned from the
case before he could sentence Polanski in absentia. Polanski lives
in France, as a French-born citizen, and by French law is exempt
from extradition. This is not only one of the longest-running cases
in California but also possibly a unique one in legal history, in
which the prosecution, the defense, and the victim were all on the
same side: against the judge.

There could have been no other country in Europe more vul-
nerable to political problems and sheer embarrassment if it ar-
rested Polanski than Switzerland. But it had no choice. Nor did
the Los Angeles County District Attorney’s office have a choice,
which it might well have wanted, since it had made no effort to
initiate Polanski’s arrest for the 30 years during which he was
in plain view. When Polanski was arrested getting off a plane at
the Zurich Airport on September 26, the Swiss were suddenly
faced with explaining to France and Poland—of which Polanski
is also a citizen—how their Ministry of Culture, which backed
the film festival, had had no idea that their Ministry of Justice
was plotting Polanski’s arrest, or why their Foreign Office knew
nothing about it. Almost worse, in terms of Switzerland’s famed
efficiency, was the fact that Polanski owned a house in Gstaad.
the purchase of which had required clearance by the same justice
department that was now handling his extradition. He also had
an account at the Swiss bank UBS and a Swiss-registered car,
and he had been coming to Gstaad for 40 years. Because such a
blunder couldn’t be imagined, some plausible conspiracies were
put forward. Was America putting pressure on Switzerland be-
cause of tax-avoiding accounts at UBS? The Los Angeles Times
went with the story that Polanski’s lawyers had recently tried to
get his case dismissed, having acquired new evidence of alleged
prosecutorial misconduct in 1977, and had gotten their client
arrested for their efforts. Los Angeles County district attorney
Steve Cooley was in the middle of an election campaign to be-
come attorney general of California, and many people assumed
that it was he who had chosen this moment to go after the fu-
gitive director. (Cooley vehemently denied this. “This is not the
way we make decisions,” he told me)

On September 22, Nicholas Marsh, a U.S. Justice Depart-
ment lawyer, e-mailed Diana Carbajal, a deputy district attorney
in L.A., “This morning we received an urgent fax from the Swiss
Federal Office of Justice notifying us that Polanski is expected to
be in Zurich sometime in the next few days. Because there is still
an outstanding Red Notice on Polanski, the Swiss are urgently
inquiring as to whether the U.S. will be submitting a PA [provi-
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nal code that technically allowed anything up to 50 years. Before sional arrest] request for Polanski.” Marsh added that, in view

"AND THEN THE JUDGE CHANGED HIS MIND.
AND I HAVE TO GO

BACKTO PRISON.” &
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of “recent activity in the U.S. court case,” he wanted to know
whether the D.A’s office intended to proceed with the extradi-
tion or decline it and remove the Red Notice. The D.A. decided
to proceed.

The previous year, 2008, an award-winning documentary
called Roman Polanski: Wanted and Desired, co-written and di-
rected by Marina Zenovich, had contained admissions of back-
room communications between the judge and the prosecutors
in the Polanski case. The apparent misconduct was considered
serious enough to send Polanski’s lawyers back to court, for the
first time since 1978, to file for a dismissal of the entire case. Ze-
novich’s film was thought to be partly responsible for instigating
Polanski's arrest. And the “recent activity” referred to in Marsh’s
e-mail had occurred eight weeks before the arrest, on July 30,
when the Second District Court of Appeal ordered the lower
court’s presiding judge to explain why he couldn’t have a hearing
without Polanski “to determine whether the case should be dis-
missed in furtherance of justice.” It was the first victory for Polan-
ski in the courts in 32 years, but the D.A. wasn’t having any of it.
Polanski’s lawyers had already offered a possible explanation for
the contradictory behavior of the D.A.s office and its inactivity
over the years; “Despite feigning offense at Mr. Polanski’s absence
from California, the district attorney has never sought extradition
or other relief, knowing, of course, that such relief would require
litigation of the misconduct.”

he D.A’s office scrambled to prove that it had

been on his trail. “It took this long because he was

a fugitive,” Steve Cooley told reporters. Sandi Gib-

bons, spokesperson for the D.As office, told ABC

News that Polanski had been in this situation be-

fore, adding, “He hears that he might be arrested if
he goes to another country, so he doesn’t go.” I read this quote to
Polanski over the phone to ask if that was true. “Absolutely not,”
he replied. “I was moving freely for 32 years.” In February 2009,
Polanski’s lawyers had announced in open court, in front of his
pursuer, L.A. deputy district attorney David Walgren, that Polan-
ski would be filming in Germany (from where he was extraditable)
for two and a half months. Polanski had shot The Pianist there over
a period of seven weeks in 2001. He had also owned a house in
Spain for 20 years, served as a judge at the Venice Film Festival,
and spent most of 1985 in Tunisia filming Pirates. He was therefore
hardly a fugitive. Even in a memo purporting to outline their ef-
forts over the years, the D.As office revealed just how little they
had done to pursue Polanski, who went more or less unwatched
and was not actively sought from 1978 until 2005, when the D.A.s
office put out the Red Notice—the first international arrest war-
rant in the entire 30-year case. Cooley had barely lifted a finger
to trigger Polanski’s arrest. As one lawyer told me, “It fell off a
Christmas tree. What are they going to say? ‘Don’t arrest him'?”
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Under Arrest in Switzerland
olanski was finally alone at four A.m., in a police
cell in Zurich, shocked and exhausted from hav-
ing worked all the previous day in Paris cutting
his latest film, The Ghost Writer. In the following
days he was moved twice, eventually into a large,
monastery-like building with a view of a lake,
where he could walk circles in a courtyard. He received visits
from his wife, Emmanuelle Seigner, the Polish ambassador and the
French consul, and his Swiss lawyer, Lorenz Erni. Finally he was
sent to Winterthur Prison, where he stayed for some seven weeks.

What Polanski saw on TV in his cell made him think, he said,
Now I'm really in trouble. Many of his supporters seemed to be
communicating that he was a special case, that it was an outrage
to arrest this great director. That provoked a predictable fury that
swamped any discussion of the legalities of the case. Where, his
detractors demanded, was there any mention of Polanski pleading
guilty to having had sex with a 13-year-old girl? And hadn’t he fled
from justice?

At a dinner I had in New York with two distinguished writers,
there was a palpable irritation with Polanskithe fugitive, giving the
finger to America, “sitting over there in France cating foie gras,” &
one of them said. “Why write about Polanski?” an acquaintance of
mine said. “He’s a rapist.”” Marina Zenovich, in a follow-up docu-
mentary, Roman Polanski: Odd Man Out, to be aired this month
on Showtime, filmed a young man in a café as protesters gathered
outside the festival cinema in Zurich. “I think it’s a little strange,
all the people walking around with signs like FREE POLANSKI,” he
says. “He’s a child molester. Put him in jail. Maybe he’ll find his
old buddy Charles Manson again”

Nasty, but revealing of the demonization of Polanski- that
started long before this case, at the time of the murder of his
wife Sharon Tate and her friends by the Manson gang in Los
Angeles in 1969, whllg Polanski was in London. Polanski was
quickly—and falsely—suspected of some culpability for the hor-
rific murders on Cielo Drive. Fantasy was reported as fact: Po-
lanski and his friends indulged in orgies and black-magic rites. As
Newsweek wrote, “Some such parlor rites might account for the
hood found over [the hair-stylist Jay] Sebring’s head and the rope

_ binding him to Miss Tate. Indeed, one group of friends specu-
tlates that the murders resulted from a ritual mock execution

that got out of hand in the glare of hallucinogens.” There was
no hood, and, contrary to abiding myth, Tate’s breast wasn’t cut
off. Time wrote, as if it were a clue, that Polanski “is noted for his
macabre movies.”

“Drug dealers, sex maniacs—I don’t remember all the names
that they gave to those poor victims,” Polanski told me. “Now
I understand that it was the appetite for anything prurient that
must have been at the source of it.” Jeff Berg, Polanski’s agent
for almost 30 years, said, “It seeps its way into the media main-

I' BE DAMAGED

EIMER.
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MOVING ON

Told by his lawyers that his
sentencing in California
would be televised, Polanski
chose to remain in Paris.

stream in quiet yet pernicious ways. Like Larry King saying to
Sharon’s sister, How do you feel about Roman having murdered
your sister? [Debra Tate replied, “Roman didn’t murder my sis-
ter.”] How do you, on national television, say that? I mean, there
are people who believed, mistakenly, that Roman was part of the
Manson family!”

This time, Polanski said, the wave of anger and hatred was
much worse than the original reaction, in 1977. “I didn’t have that
at all then. This was more like the assassination of Sharon and
what happened afterwards.”

Barricaded inside his Swiss chalet from paparazzi, Polanski
could watch and read how far the popular narrative of his case
had strayed from the facts over the years. The prevailing version
now was: Polanski was convicted of rape, jumped bail to flee the
country, and escaped with no punishment.

In fact, Polanski submitted willingly to the court and returned
to California twice from French territory, where he could have
safely stayed. After he had pleaded guilty to unlawful sex with
a minor, the judge allowed him to travel for several months in
order to make a film called Hurricane with the producer Dino
De Laurentiis. He returned from Bora Bora, in the South Pacific,
the second time to report to prison. At that time, according to
Polanski’s lawyer Douglas Dalton, no prison sentence had been
handed out in Los Angeles County in the previous year for the
charge Polanski admitted to. But the difference in ages—Polanski
was 43 and Samantha Geimer 13—could have changed that. Dal-
ton told him he might face up to two years in prison, and Polan-
ski nevertheless returned to California, prepared to take the risk.

Polanski was not convicted of rape. Samantha Geimer, whose
family didn’t want to pursue a jail term and sought to protect her
from a trial, agreed to a plea bargain whereby Polanski admitted
only to unlawful sexual intercourse with a minor. Several charges
against him were to be dismissed, including furnishing a con-
trolled substance to a minor, lewd or lascivious acts upon a
child under 14, rape by use of drugs, perversion, and
sodomy. These charges, however, became the essence
of the story. “The presumption of innocence is basic
to our law,” wrote Dalton, “but not in the minds of the
average citizen outside the proceedings.”

Samantha Geimer declined to talk to me. She was
preparing a book to be published this month by Atria,
The Girl: A Life in the Shadow of Roman Polanski. But
she did respond to my questions. She wrote, “What I will say is: it
was rape. Not only because I was underage, but also because I
did not consent. My hesitance to throw the word rape around
is because in my own mind that word implies a level of violence
that did not occur in my case. Prosecutors and others throw a lot
of words around very freely. I prefer to be more thoughtful when
choosing my words.”

The Original Case
n February 1977, Polanski was introduced to 13-year-old
Samantha Gailey, as she was then called. He told her and
her mother he was taking photographs of young girls for
the French men’s magazine Vogue Hommes. On March
10, he took her to his friend Jack Nicholson’s house, on
Mulholland Drive, and gave her champagne and part of a
quaalude. They got into the Jacuzzi, and later he had sex with her.
Polanski then drove her home to her mother’s house. Their different
accounts of that drive would contribute to the strange, existential
details of this saga: she said they drove in continvuep on pAGE 370
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Julian Assange

houseguest, especially one as polarizing
as Assange. But Patifio recently reiterated
his support for Assange. “T was able to say
face-to-face to him, for the first time, that
the government of Ecuador remains firmly
committed to protecting his human rights,”
Patifio said, “and that we continue to seek
cast-iron assurances to avoid any onward
extradition to a third state.” Britain has
backed away from initial threats to enter
the embassy and remove Assange by force.
Tracy, Marchioness of Worcester, an activ-
ist who has hitherto been known mainly for
her efforts against commercial pig farming,
is planning a gala dinner this fall to raise
money for WikiLeaks. “I think he is as im-
portant as Gandhi in bringing the truth and
being willing to sacrifice his freedom for the
truth,” Worcester told me.

ssange will be able to leave the Ecua-

doran Embassy (most likely for Ecuador
itself’) only if Britain grants him safe passage,
which his lawyers have been pushing for, to
no avail. They are also trying to persuade
Swedish authorities to conduct their inter-
views with Assange at the embassy, rather
than continuing to demand that he come to
Sweden. One of Assange's lawyers, Michael
Ratner, of the nonprofit Center for Constitu-
tional Rights, pointed out to me that, if one
counts his time under house arrest at Elling-
ham Hall, Assange has been in confinement
for almost three years. Even if he had been
found guilty of what is alleged in Sweden,

Ratner said, he could have served a shorter
sentence than this. But it is not the allega-
tions in Sweden that Assange fears. It is the
grand jury in the Eastern District of Virginia,
which, Ratner said, has been investigating
him for possible violations of the Espionage
Act and the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act.
The Justice Department has acknowledged
an investigation into WikiLeaks, and by all
accounts it is extensive and aggressive. “I
have almost no doubt that there is a sealed
indictment against Julian Assange,” Ratner
told me. If Assange is extradited back to
the U.S., Ratner said, he will likely receive
no better treatment than that accorded to
Bradley Manning, who was held in solitary
confinement for months and forced to sleep
naked and with the lights on while awaiting
trial. He would also be denied a computer
and an Internet connection, and would likely
be subject to special administrative measures
that would prevent his lawyers from commu-
nicating anything Assange said to the outside
world. The assistance that WikiLeaks has
given to Snowden has not helped its legal sit-
uation; no traditional news outlet has offered
Snowden anything near the support that
WikiLeaks has, for fear of being prosecuted
for “aiding the enemy.” During a conference
call, I asked Assange about WikiLeaks’ deci-
sion to assist Snowden, and he said, “We’re
proud that we have the most aggressive pol-
icy on source protection and fighting for the
defense of journalistic sources and whistle-
blowers. All media organizations should take
our lead. Sources see which organizations
are willing to defend them and which orga-
nizations are not.” '

On the one-year anniversary of his ar-
rival at the embassy, Assange told Reuters he
wasn’t sure how much longer he would stay,
but “we don’t intend to leave the situation to
fate.” The message is that, despite Ecuadoran
assurance of unending hospitality, Assange
does not plan to follow the example of Car-
dinal Jozsef Mindszenty, who took refuge on
the upper floors of the American Embassy
in Budapest for 15 years. That said, he has
no obvious exit strategy, and the advantages
of his predicament are considerable. For one
thing, he is insulated from some of his own
most damaging tendencies. “Julian is his
own worst enemy.” a supporter told me. “He
is a truly extraordinary individual who has
a lot of problems due to his social skills. Tf
you are prepared to suffer him, he does do
good.” But no one really has to suffer him
now, except a handful of Ecuadorans. He is
no longer a public spectacle. He and his work
are safe from prosecution.~He can serve as a
clearinghouse for the whistle-blowers who co-
alesce around him. He can pick his battles.
He has a megaphone whenever he needs one.

You can think of this as a stalemate, but
it’s a stalemate with a winner. O

FROM THE ARCHIVE
Forthese related stories, visit VECOM/ARCHIVE

= Julian Assange and The Guardian, a
marriage of inconvenience
r’Saruh Ellis or, Frbr uary 2ar)

* Meet the whistle-blowers
(Mark Hertsgaard on Rich Levernier and Chris
Stegle, November zo03; David Rose on Sibel
Edihonds, September 2o05; Michael Shnayerson
on Bunnatine Greenhouse, April 2005)

Roman Polanski

CONTINUED FROM PAGE 331 NEAr si]ence; he
says she recited Shakespeare, not very well.
At home, Samantha confided what had hap-
pened to her former boyfriend; her sister
overheard her and told their mother, who,
on the advice of her accountant, called the
police. The following day Polanski was ar-
rested in the Beverly Wilshire hotel.

Most details of what happened on March
10 come from Samantha Geimer’s testimony
before a grand jury, which would normally
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have been kept sealed to protect her. Such
documents, which contain g?w information
unexamined in a trial court, have the legal sta-
tus of a witch hunt when they get out and are
taken as fact, yet Judge Rittenband publicly
leaked details from it in a way that seemed to
intentionally cast doubt on the character of
Samantha and her mother, and that scarred
them for life. Such damaging insinuations
still reverberate as part of the myth. Geimer
is sometimes still portrayed, she told Marina
Zenovich, as “a shatty little girl with the stage
mother from hell.”

In his autobiography, Roman, by Polanski,
published in 1984, Polanski was unwisely un-
apologetic. It showed him unrepentant, or at
least defiant. He insisted that the sex was con-
sensual. “She wasn't unresponsive,” he wrote.
Geimer, incensed, responded by suing him in
1988, for sexual assault, false imprisonment,
intentional infliction of emotional distress,
and seduction of a minor. In 1993, Polanski
agreed to pay Geimer $500,000 with interest.

Gemmer told Zenovich for Odd Man Out,
“[Polanski] is kind of at the bottom of my

list of, you know, people I feel harmed by
at this moment.... He's a man who made
a really bad mistake. And used really poor
judgment. And he is not the only man who
has ever done something like that, by a long
shot, But I also have a reaction to everybody
just [using] ‘molester,” ‘pedophile,” ‘child rap-
ist.” That’s not what he is. He has a wife and
kids, and what is wrong with people that they
have to go after all of us?” On Good Morning
America, on March 10, 2011, Geimer said she
wanted it known how pootly the courts had
handled her case; how “the whole situation
has been used for the benefit of judges or dis-
trict attorneys for their own personal, political
gain, which has caused way more damage to
me and my family than anything Roman Po-
lanski has ever done. You shouldn’t be dam-
aged more by the court than by the crime.”

FOrmer D.A. Robert Philibosian express-
es the often repeated opinion that Po-
lanski’s being a famous director “shouldn’t
exempt him from the same justice that ev-
erybody else would be subjected to.” But
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th'&‘f is never possible with any celebrity.
“You are in the heart, the birthplace, of
the obscssion with celebrity.” said Mike Roos,
a former member of the California legislature
and currently a political consultant. “It does
crazy things to seemingly sane people. You
¢an go back to Judge Rittenband himself as
your first exhibit,” Laurence J. Rittenband, a
legal prodigy who was educated at Harvard,
had by the age of 71 become obsessed with
Hollywood and the press. He kept a scrap-
book of his famous cases—Elvis Presley’s
divorce, Marlon Brando's custody battle. He
requested the Polanski case and parceled out
seats in the courtroom, which was packed.

“They were being very easy with Roman
here, if you can call it that,” Jack Nicholson
told me, “in the sense that he had a waiver
that he could go to Polynesia. He was work-
ing on a picture with Dino, and they said that
was fine. But then he had his picture taken in
Germany, and that caused the law enforce-
ment embarrassment, from the newspapers.
It’s a terrible shame, as far as I'm concerned. I
feel his loss here” (Polanski had gone to Mu-
nich to raise money for Hurricane, and he was
photographed at the Oktoberfest, surrounded
by women—who were, in fact, all wives and
girlfriends of Polanski’s German friends,)

Zenovich’s directorial scoop, which re-
ignited the case, was to get former deputy
D.A. David Wells on-camera. He had been
sidelined from the case, but badly wanted to
be part of it, he told Zenovich. He claimed it
was he who had shown Rittenband the Olk-
toberfest photograph and told him he was
being made a fool of, Because Wells felt that
Polanski should go to prison, he said, he ad-
vised Rittenband to send him to Chino for a
“diagnostic evaluation” that could keep him
behind bars for up to 90 days. In other words,
instant prison, which would look good. Oth-
erwise, Polanski could go on appealing up to
the Supreme Court. This amounted to seri-
ous prosecutorial misconduct.

When Polanski was arrested in Zurich,
Wells abruptly changed his tune. In a per-
formance of abject self-abasement on CNN,
he said that his highly detailed description to
Zenovich on-camera had all been a lie. The
Court of Appeal did not think that Wells’s
retraction settled the matter. The court
suggested that the district attorney’s office
ought to investigate whether Wells had en-
gaged in “profoundly unethical conduet,” in-
cluding pursuing “a personal agenda against
a defendant.” But Wells was left alone.

ouglas Dalton is retired but remains
active as an adviser on the case. Back

in 1977, Dalton was one of the most distin-
guished lawyers in California, with clients
ranging from Watergate co-conspirator J‘ohn
Ehrlichman to John Lennon. He has since
been a member of the Board of Governors
of the California State Bar. The prosecutor
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was Roger Gunson, a Mormon, who was
greatly respected in the D.A s office.

When Rittenband told Dalton and Gun-
son that the 90-day evaluation would be Po-
lanski’s full punishment, Gunson objected,
saying that would be illegal. The judge said
he was going to do it anyway. Then, playing
to the press gallery, he made Gunson and
Dalton go through a sham performance of
arguing their sides in court, even though
they all knew what his ruling was going to
be. When Polanski came out after 42 days,
the psychiatric report recommended that he
be released without further prison time,

Rittenband was upset. He had been get-
ting criticism, he said. In order to deflect it, he
had decided to send Polanski back to prison.
According to Dalton and Gunson, another
secret deal was proposed. Rittenband would
announce a prison term and then quietly re-
lease Polanski after 48 days—the remainder
of the original 90. The press must not know,
and the lawyers must go through another cha-
rade of arguing their cases in advance. But Po-
lanski would have to agree to deport himself
from the US.A. on his release—another illegal
move. “I said, “You can’t order someone de-
ported. That’s the federal court,’” said Dalton.
“I said, ‘If you do this, I want a full sentenc-
ing hearing” And he knew that I would get
out there at a hearing, and the press would be
there, and I would say, “Well, you agreed on
all this.” And he would be exposed.”

Rittenband countered by threatening to
withdraw his offer to let Polanski out after
48 days, and to give him instead an indeter-
minate sentence, which could be anything
from 1 to 50 years. “We weren’t getting any-
where,” said Dalton. “We walked out of there,
and I said, ‘'m not going to do this again.
We’ve done this once—we went along with
this act the other time, when he wanted us to
argue as though it was genuine.’ And Gunson
said, ‘I'm not going to do it again either’” The
day before the scheduled hearing Dalton met
with Polanski. “Roman said to me, ‘Can we
trust him? I said, ‘No, we can’t. We have no
idea what he may do,” Roman got up, looked
at me, and [ believe he said, T’ll see you guys
later” And he left the room.”

The Soul of a Fugitive?

Polanski took stock and fled. As the
Court of Appeal later pointed out, he had
had other remedies, such as appeal, but only
from inside jail after a second sentence—af-
ter, Dalton estimated, a considerable period
of incarceration. I asked him if his past had
gone through his mind when he made the
decision—his proven instinct for survival in
Nazi-occupied Poland as a child, and post-
war Communism, with its own indetermi-
nate sentences, I explained that it was his
flight that upset Americans,

“The soul of a fugitive?” he said, with a
trace of sarcasm. 1 escaped from the [Krakow]

Ghetto, I escaped from Communist Poland,
I had to run from persecution. Maybe |
shouldn’t have run from the ghetto either.
There were those who didn’t. It ended up in
the Warsaw Ghetto uprising as a suicidal re-
bellion, and they’re heroes. Practically all of
them died. Some of them ran through the sew-
ers and survived; one of the heads of the re-
bellion did. But he should have stayed, no? .. .
I thought even if I have to go back to Poland
and work all my life there, it’s better than go-
ing through all this. It’s easy to say that [ was
working and traveling during that year [while
waiting for the sentence], but it was a night-
mare—hell—with this sword hanging over my
neck. And it was such a shock to learn that it’s
not finished, after they let you out of prison.
Free! With your bundle under your arm, with
the lawyer waiting for you outside, standing
there, in your mind it’s all over, it’s finished.
And then the judge changed his mind. And I
have to go back to prison, and nobody knows
how long. I just could not go through that.
And that's when I decided.”

Gunson, the prosecutor, who hadn’t been
disposed to go easy on Polanski, told Ze-
novich, “I'm not surprised that he left under
those circumstances.” Dalton drew up dis-
qualification papers to prevent Rittenband
from sentencing Polanski in his absence.
Gunson read them and agreed. Crucially, ac-
cording to Dalton, Rittenband perjured him-
self in his response by lying about the nature
of his secret sentencing arrangements. His lie
would reverberate 32 years later and end up
stopping Polanski’s extradition to America.

n December 2011, I met Polanski in Paris,

five months after his release from house
arrest in Switzerland. I had met him in the
late 60s, in London, and remembered him
being arrogant, very strong meat, but also
hilariously comical. Now, in Paris, I found
him quite different—thoughtful, modest, and
equally good company. There were obstacles
to overcome, notably the libel case he had
won against Vanity Fair six years previously,
which had left a bitter taste. He was molli-
fied to be told by me that the extraordinary
move back then of taking the appeal to the
European Court of Human Rights was not a
vendetta against him, but was driven by the
magazine’s libel-insurance company.

He had, over time, made apologies for
what he had done in 1977, none of them suf:
ficiently contrite for his detractors. He had
apologized in private to Samantha Geimer,
but as he said in an interview with his col-
league Andrew Braunsberg for Laurent Bou-
zereaw’s 2011 documentary, Roman Polan-
ski: A Film Memoir: “Thirty-three years, and
I really feel sorry for what this event has
caused to her life and problems that she may
have with her family, with her surroundings,
with the constant aggression of the paparazzi
or other media. When 1 think about it now,
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you know, I'm at a total loss of what one
false step can cause as misery to yourself,
but more than that to people around you.”

To me he said, “I won’t say more be-
yond what I said before, what I said in my
book, what [ said in the interview you have
seen. | don't want to make any confessions
now, vent my intimate feelings. What I did
was wrong, otherwise I wouldn’t have pled
guilty. I should have had my day in court,
and the thing would probably be forgotten.”

In 2009, Geimer said in a TV interview,
“He sent me a small note that was like
an apology for all the trouble he's put me
through, so that was nice.” She added, “But
I was at peace before that, because I know
he didn’t really mean to hurt me, and 1 knew
we were both going through a really hard
time with the publicity and the courts.... I
appreciated the apology.”

ew Europeans had ever had such a quick

success in Hollywood as Polanski in the
late 1960s. He was already a master crafts-
man of film, a product of the famous Lodz
film school, in Poland, still in his 30s. He
had met his first wife, the actress Barbara
Lass, when he was a student. They married
in 1959, settled in Paris, and divorced in 1961.
He moved to London at the height of its he-
donistic boom, in which he partook avidly.
There he made Repulsion, starring Catherine
Deneuve, and Cul-de-Sac. He came to Holly-
wood with his girlfriend, the beautiful actress
Sharon Tate—who would soon become his
second wife—and made Rosemeary’s Baby, an
instant hit. “I worked with a lot of European
directors in that period, and Roman took to
working here more than any of them, like a
duck to water,” said Jack Nicholson, who in
1974 starred in Chinatown. “He knew how to
work here and not have it cause a lot of differ
ence in the way he did it—he’s just so good at
what he does. As for the many, many friends
he made while he was here, I never heard any
one of them say that they had any desire to
turn their back on Roman, or anything like it.”

1 asked Nicholson if Roman’s exile from
America had affected his career. “I knew
this man was not going to say, ‘Oh, God, this
has ruined me. I can’t work,”” he replied.
“That is not in his vocabulary. He’s not go-
ing to give in. It doesn’t mean he’s not aware
of the loss. But Roman has never been one
to let anything limit what he does.... Heisa
genius—I mean, come on!”

& made a movie right away,” said Polanski

of his return to Europe in 1978. “I did
Teéss, which got six nominations and won—
what?three Oscars.” Before he left Amer
ica, Polanski had started a relationship with
the 15-year-old Nastassja Kinski, in 1976. He
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made no secret of his attraction to underage
women, defying on a talk show what he called
the prudishness of his American critics. His
relationship with Kinski lasted through the
making of Tess, in which she starred.

Did he have regrets, I asked him, about
leaving America so peremptorily? “Of
course, but, you know, I never was complete-
ly anchored in America. London was really
my place. I loved Paris, and T had my apart-
ment in Paris, but the place that I really ap-
preciated most was London.” But wasn’t his
pre-eminence in the global world of movies
Hollywood-based? “Then it was different, be-
cause I had total freedom.” he replied. “Hol-
lywood traditionally doesn’t give too much
freedom to filmmakers. That was a loss, of
course, because I got in the position where 1
could do virtually what I wanted, where ev-
eryone would tell me, "What do you want to
do next?” That’s not the usual language of the
business, which is ‘Here, we have a project
for you. We're going to develop it, etc.’ You
get the ‘creative group’ sending you notes,
but in those days it wasn'’t like that. It was
the dawn of the golden boys invading Hol-
lywood. If you're asking me whether I lost
a lot by leaving Hollywood, of course I did. I
lost the contact with the studios, the studio
executives, with people, all sorts of projects.
And not only that—TI had friends! I left a lot.
I had a life there. So there’s no question, but
sometimes you have to make a choice in life.
To go to prison and to risk your life again—
I mean, these are dangerous places.”

His friends are divided over whether his
flight was a disaster or a stroke of good'tim-
ing. Speaking on the set of The Ghost Writer
in 2009, Ewan McGregor said, “He repre-
sents everything that Hollvwood isn't, There’s
nobody in control of what he puts into his
films except himself”” Jeff Berg says of his cli-
ent, “I think Roman’s ultimate genius was be-
ing able to adapt to the business, the industry,
and find a way where he could turn the center
of gravity to his advantage, win an Academy
Award on his own terms. And not have to be
a supplicant. When he went back to Paris,
he had to reconstruct his career and his life,
and he made 13 other movies.” These include
Frantic, Bitter Moon, and recently Venus in
Fur—all with Emmanuelle Seigner—as well as
The Pianist, The Ghost Writer, and Carnage.

Polanski and Seigner were married in 198%
and have two children, Morgane, an actress
studying in London, and Elvis, who is still in
school. In the interview he did with Andrew
Braunsberg, he talks of his happy life with
Seigner. In France he is a cherished figure;
in 1998 he was elected to the Académic des
Beaux-Arts. In addition, he is a kind of uneleci-
ed leader of European directors; in Cannes in
2000, he dragged 34 of the world’s greatest
filmmakers out of a press conference to go
to lunch, because he said the questions being
asked were all boring and unworthy of them.

Revelations from California

hree months after his arrest, in Decem-

ber 2009, Polanski received unexpected
good news. The Court of Appeal in Califor-
nia had decided that, even though Polanski
had “means at his disposal other than flight,”
he was entitled to a hearing in which Ritten-
band’s apparent misconduct could be litigat-
ed without Polanski returning to the United
States or dropping his battle against extradi-
tion. If “the trial court finds that Polanski’s
allegations are true. .. ,” it wrote, “we are con-
fident that the trial court could fashion a legal
sentence that results in no further incarcera-
tion for Polanski™ As for Judge Rittenband,
the evidence suggested, said the court, that
he may have “imposed an improper punish-
ment.” If Wells’s account was true, Ritten-
band was “ushered along a path of iniquity
by an officer of the court with a personal axe
to grind and no hesit@tion to ... devise illegal,
nonappealable sentences Lo circumvent the de-
fendant’s due process and sentencing rights.” 4

The Court of Appeal added: “Polanski’s
allegations urgently require full exploration
and then, if indicated, curative action for the
abuses alleged here.” It should happen im-
mediately, “regardless of Polanski’s custody
status. . .. Fundamental fairness and justice
in our criminal justice system are far more
important than the conviction and sentence
of any one individual,”

It seemed to Polanski and his friends that
finally the trouble was over. But late in Janu-
ary the trial court said Polanski had to ap-
pear in person, because “the dignity of the
court requires it.” Why did they want him
there? As Polanski’s attorney said in exas-
peration, “What your honor is saying ... is
you're not doing anything unless Mr. Polan-
ski first shows up. And for what? A show.”
However, their reasons went deeper.

GI think that [this case] is celebrity-driven,”
said Mike Roos. “It’s way out of context
from the time that the crime was judged
to be the crime, and a penalty that fit that
crime back in the late 60s was in accor-
dance with what anyone probably would
have received. You look at all the penalties
for drunk driving before Mothers Against
Drunk Driving changed the world, and
you see two completely different worlds.
And that’s the problem that Polanski has.
Everybody is “Oh, my God, he molested
a [3-year-old.” That’s the outrage that you
express if you've just learned about it, and
you've just had this plethora of laws protect-
ing children. So it’s looking through the last
10- or 15-years lens at a crime that was ad-
judicated 40 years ago now. In terms of the
trust, the handshake, the absolute balance
on which the criminaljustice system relies,
it is so much more a crime what Rittenband
did versus what Polanski finally pleaded to.
There’s no question in my mind that if you
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could have an in camera hearing, the gavel
Would bang and Polanski would be judged
firee to go about his business in this country.”
The D.A. had rested for years behind the
standard explanation that, as Philibosian
put it, “under California law, without the
Personal appearance of the defendant in a
felony case, no action can be taken.” The
Court of Appeal had said that that was not
so. It soon became clear, however, that nei-
ther this judge nor this D.A. had any inten-
tion of following a single item of the Court
of Appeal’s recommendations. Both were
certainly vulnerable to election. Because
Polanski had fled the country, they couldn’t
just let him go. It was politically impossible.
According to Dalton and Gunson, the
best offer Polanski had was from Larry Paul
Fidler, the California judge who oversaw the
Phil Spector murder trial in 2007. Dalton
and Gunson say they approached the judge
in 1997, and after several meetings Fidler
decided that Rittenband’s original promise
should stand—that Polanski had served his
time. If he came back. he would be booked
and released on bail. With a short sentencing
hearing, the case would be concluded.

Po]anski, according to Dalton, was al-
most preparing to return to America
when Dalton warned him that Fidler in-
tended to show the proceedings on live TV.
When Dalton repeated this in Zenovich’s
documentary, Fidler’s office called the story
a “complete fabrication™ no meetings, it
said, had ever taken place. Dalton and Gun-
son responded publicly with equal fury to
this “false and reprehensible statement.” The
Los Angeles Times and other publications
dug out evidence that the meetings had in-
deed occurred, and news of a putative agree-
ment had leaked immediately. Philip Vanat-
ter, the detective who had originally arrested
Polanski, was already volunteering for the
job of welcoming him. Dalton received some
75 calls on his voice mail in a single day, At
that point, Dalton said, Polanski turned the
offer down—he felt he couldn’t put his family
through the media frenzy of live TV. When
Fidler had allowed TV into the courtroom in
the Spector trial, he said, “Public scrutiny is
a good thing”” And indeed if Polanski had
been let off in a day without TV coverage,
there would have been an outcry of celebrity
privilege. But Dalton thought differently, re-
fusing on the grounds that once TV enters
a courtroom “it distorts justice completely,”
he told me. “It changes the entire process
and can change the outcome. It becomes
more TV, less law.”

Sandi Gibbons conceded that, while tele-
vising a trial may not have any consequences
for people in the courtroom, as far as present-
ing evidence is concerned, it creates a mas-
sive public sideshow. “But Polanski \i\'asnt
going to trial,” she said. “He was going 1o
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have a sentencing hearing, which is very dif-
ferent.”” Giibbons, until her recent retirement,
was a spokesperson for the D.A.s office for
24 years. She had perfected the art of deflec-
tion. I asked her about the Court of Appeal’s
suggestion that, if proven, Polanski’s allega-
tions urgently require “curative action for
the abuses alleged.” “Abuses of what?”’ she
asked. She said it was primarily Polanski’s
continuing absence that had turned public
opinion against him. But why, I asked, did
he flee in the first place? Wasn't he getting
rough justice? She replied, “The guy’s a self:
confessed child molester. Let’s talk about
rough justice.” That was not the answer to
my question, but it was revealing of the pre-
vailing mood in law-enforcement circles.

Douglas Dalton had one last card up his
sleeve, on which the fate of his client
would turn. He had been insisting in court
that the extradition request Deputy D.A,
David Walgren had sent to the Swiss govern-
ment was misleading, Walgren had told the
Swiss that Judge Rittenband had ordered
Polanski to undergo the 90-day diagnostic
evaluation instead of imposing a sentence.
That was literally true, but everyone involved
in the case knew that it was a half-truth, for
Rittenband had promised that it would be
Polanski’s final sentence. Walgren had trans-

mitted to the Swiss Ministry of Justice Rit-
tenband’s false account of what happened.
Whenever Dalton had brought this up in
the past, Walgren maintained that the wit-
ness statements of Dalton, Gunson, and the
probation officer in Rittenband’s sentenc-
ing were inadmissible; since the men hadn’t
been cross-examined, they were only hearsay.
Dalton therefore arranged for Gunson, who
was ailing with cancer, to undergo *“a condi-
tional examination” under oath and cross-
examination. This time Gunson went even
further than in the past. At the examination,
attended by Walgren, he revealed that, back
in 1977. he had prepared his own motion for
disqualification of Rittenband. He had to
show it to his superiors in the D.A’s office,
Stephen Trott and Michael Montagna, who
asked him how they could tell if it was true.
Gunson told them to go and ask the judge.
According to Gunson, the pair returned and
said that Judge Rittenband had admitted his
misconduct but had ordered Gunson not to
file his motion against him. (Such an ex parte
communication may have been illegal.) This
was likely the “criticism™ that Rittenband
mentioned when he handed out more prison
time to Polanski. Trott and Montagna did
not respond to my inquiries, but Trott, who
is now a federal senior circuit appeals judge,
told a New York Times journalist, “I'm staying

Prepare our suite at once.
We'll be in the bar,
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out of that completely.” But Gunson had one
more bombshell to deliver, in front of Wal-
gren. Asked whether the extradition request
Walgren had sent to the Swiss was a true
account or a false account of Polanski’s sen-
tencing, Gunson replied, “False” The D.As
office had the court seal the documents.

Time to Remember

he great luck of having a house in Swit-

zerland meant that after nine weeks
Polanski could be moved to his chalet in
Gstaad, under house arrest, with a leg tag
that allowed him to move only 15 feet out-
side the doors. With an army of reporters
staking the house out, it was exactly like a
scene from The Ghost Writer, where a fugi-
tive fearing extradition for a crime is pinned
inside his house by paparazzi. “The circling
helicopter included,” said Polanski.

It was the effect on his children that
weighed heaviest on his mind during the
house arrest, he said. He began to think for
the first time of the events of his own child-
hood through his parents’ eyes; what it felt
like to try—and fail—to protect children in
the Krakow Ghetto. His father escaped to the
East when the war started, and Polanski, who
lived temporarily in Warsaw with his mother
and sister, didn't know where he was. With
Andrew Braunsberg, he now made 14 hours
of taped interviews, covering every aspect of
his life. These were edited into the film Roman
Polanski: A Film Memoir, which will premiere
inthe U.S. in fall of 2013

It was the first time he had talked to any-
body about those events, though he had writ-
ten about some of them in his autobiogra-
phy. Recalling them verbally reduced him to
tears on several occasions, something rarely
seen with Polanski. “When you think about
things, you don’t cry to yourself,” he said. “But
when you suddenly put it into words, it feels
different. Suddenly I could see how my par-
ents felt about me. It’s no more self-pity. It’s
their perspective. And that’s very painful”

Polanski will soon be one of the last wit-
nesses to what happened in the Krakéw
Ghetto, where the Nazis isolated the city’s
Jews from 1939 to 1943, when they sent the

remaining survivors to concentration camps.
To be born Jewish in Poland in 1933 was an
almost certain death sentence. Polanski's ac-
counts, in Braunsberg’s film and to me, pro-
vide intensely subjective eyewitness details
and day-to-day memories of the liquidation
of an entire population. These accounts,
some details of which he put into The Pia-
nist, are about his childhood friends and
their disappearance. When he talks of Pawel,
he has to stop the tape. “He lived in the next
building. We became friends. He must have
been 11, maybe 12, It was the first friend-
ship in my life. His mother died, and he was
Iiving with his foster father, who beat him.
One night on one of the first times they were
taking people, we heard screams, and the
Germans came, and they were in the build-
ing. And the next day I realized they took
Pawel and his family. It was the first time 1
had a broken heart.”

He remembers his father in the street,
bursting into tears and telling Roman, who
was eight, “They took Mother.” Polanski re-
called, “But I wasn't crying. I said to my fa-
ther, “Stop crying, because they will pick us
up.” His mother, who was pregnant, died at
Auschwitz. Roman and his father remained
in the ghetto for a year after she was taken.
Then the day came when he saw his father
being marched off to a concentration camp.
He tried to get close to the column of men,
but his father hissed, “Get lost.” Polanski told
me, “When you're eight, you use all kinds of
stratagems to get what you really wish decp-
ly. And I wanted to be with my father. But [
thought better of it and ran back.”

Polanski hid out till the end of the war,
mostly with a peasant family in the country,
consistently with not enough to eat, which
probably explains his diminutive size. They
were good people. but affection. or the abil-
ity to show it, was beyond them, thus putting
the finishing touches to Polanskf’s brutalized
childhood. He got used to living without it.
Then his father returned from the labor
camp at the end of the war. “The most beau-
tiful day of my young life,” he told me.

Years later in Gstaad, when his father
and stepmother were visiting, Polanski found
him with the radio playing, his head in his
hands and in tears. The song on the radio
was the well-known “Oh, Mein Papa,” Po-
lanski recalled. “And 1 say, ‘Papa, what’s the

matter?”” Polanski senior described a scene
after the ghetto was liquidated and he was
put in Plaszow, the camp near Krakow that
is in the film Sehindler’s List, from which pris-
oners were distributed to the death camps.
One day they separated the children from
their parents and put them on the trucks. Their
parents, crying and screaming, were lying
on the ground, “like a terrible apocalyptic
moment.” And on the loudspeaker the Ger-
mans were playing “Oh, Mein Papa.” | asked
Polanski what he made of this singular act of
cruelty, “They like music, the Germans,” he
replied. “It’s the land of Beethoven.”

Swiss Action

he person in Switzerland who would de-

cide Polanski’s fate was Eveline Widmer-
Schlumpf, the minister of justice. She was one
of the most hated politicians in Switzerland,
even in her own party, and they were gunning
for her. The Swiss Pecple’s Pasty, a right-wing,
populist, xenophobic organization, has tripled
its share of the vote on anti-immigration and
anti-European politics over the last 20 years,
to the point where it now controls some 26
percent of the government. The most pow-
erful figure behind its rise to power was the
billionaire industrialist Christoph Blocher.
In 2004 he entered the government as the
minister of justice. In 2007, to express their
dislike of him, the left and moderate par-
ties quietly put up Widmer-Schlumpf to run
against him and elected her. A willing traitor
to her own party, though she belonged to a
moderalf wing of it, she thus inherited the

" portfolio of minister of justice. “It was just a

total revolution in Switzerland,” said Daniel
Binswanger, editor of Das Magazin. “So she’s
really the most courageous or the most treach-
erous woman in the history of Swiss politics.
Whatever she does, they try to attack her.”
(Disowned by her party, Widmer-Schlumpf
subsequently started her own, the Conserva-
tive Democratic Party of Switzerland.)

From the very beginning, there was a de-
termined effort to find all possible means not
to extradite Polanski to America. The aim
was partly to protect Switzerland’s reputation
abroad for security. They had missed the first
opportunity—to refuse simply on the grounds
that it would show bad faith, to arrest and ex-
tradite Polanski after allowing him to buy a
house in the country and inviting him as an
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Eﬁic:al guest. Widmer-Schlumpf would have

C€N attacked from the right for letting a ped-
Ophile go. That perhaps explains her extreme
“aution and the length of time that elapsed

efore any decision was taken. “There was
political pressure from Poland and France
from the first day to the last,” one source told
me, *[Then French president Nicolas] Sarkozy
Played a clear role, no question. But such pres-
Sure is supportive, not decisive.”

According to Binswanger, “Switzerland
is engaged in so many conflicts with the
European community. We are so massively
on the defensive on all fronts—banking se-
crecy, tax regimes, energy deals, education
cooperation, Of course, there are serious
problems with the U.S. as well, particularly
with banking, but compared with the long-
term tension with Europe it’s not nearly as
big. So this is a situation where any occasion
for Switzerland to do a favor is attractive.”
On the other hand, there was Switzerland’s
professed devotion to legal correctness.
Widmer-Schlumpf knew that if she couldn’t
find a proper legal base for releasing Polan-
ski she would have to extradite him.

For the legal experts, there seemed to be
nothing standing in the way of extradition.
America has a correct legal system, the ar-
gument went; if there had been irregulari-
ties, it wasn’t for the Swiss to clean them up.
The crucial moment came when Widmer-
Schlumpf realized that there was some flex-
ibility from the strictly legal point of view.
There were many meelings with the French
and American ambassadors, as well as with
the Polish ambassador, Jaroslaw Starzyk.
She saw her chance, I was told, two months
before Polanski’s release. That was when the
Swiss started asking for more documents.

Bernard-Henri Lévy, the French philoso-
pher, who barely knew Polanski, went into
action, because, he told me, “it was a matter
of principle. To trap him; invite him on the
red carpet and then take him to jail” Leévy
said he believed that Swiss public opinion
was crucial. He therefore persuaded Polan-
ski to write a letter to go in the newspapers
and on radio and TV, which pointed the
finger at the political ambitions of Steve
Cooley and his bid to be elected attorney
general. Lévy told me, “When the letter
was published, it was clear from the returns,
and also from my contacts, that Swiss pub-
lic opinion was 80 percent for Polanski.”

Under Swiss law, Polanski couldn't be ex-
tradited if the sentence for his crime would
be less than six months. Polanski’s lawyers’
main defense against extradition was that his
sentence had already been served.

n May 5, 2010, the Swiss, possibly know-
Oing that the U.S. authorities would find

a reason not to give it to them, asked to see
the Gunson testimony. This document would
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confirm, said the Swiss, that Polanski had,
in fact, served his sentence. On May 6, the
D.A. filed papers opposing its unsealing. On
May 10, David Walgren told a judge that the
Swiss had not asked for the document. On
May 13, the U.S. Justice Department told the
Swiss that the document could not be given
out, Sandi Gibbons said the D.A’s office in
Los Angeles was never even nofified of the
request., Widmer-Schlumpf called a press
conference to declare that Polanski was be-
ing released. Because the Americans couldn’t
send Gunson’s statement, she said, “it cannot
be excluded with certainty that Roman Po-
lanski, who was imprisoned in Chino State
Prison for 42 days, has not already served the
sentence imposed on him.”

For autonomy-loving Switzerland, not
wanting to be leaned on by the United States,
it was a popular decision with the left and
right. They blamed her only for not having
acted sooner.

There was a predictable fury from the
Los Angeles D.A.s office. “The Swiss could
not have found a smaller hook on which to
hang their hat,” said Steve Cooley. In fact,
on that hook hung the central issue of the
whole case, Because the D.As office hadn't
dealt with it back in 1977, it had become a
lethal snag. Cooley lost the election, and
Dalton prepared a package to hand out to

any government approached in the future
with an extradition request for Polanski. As
if handing over a family business, Mr. Coo-
ley told me, “I hope my successor continues
the fine tradition of trying to get Mr. Polan-
ski back behind the bars of justice.”

One hero in the saga is Roger Gunson,
the whistle-blower. The prosecutor’s duty is
to protect the rights of the defendant, and
this Gunson did, whatever he thought of
Polanski. “A lot of prosecutors would have
said, “This is your problem, not mine. You
go ahead and fight Rittenband. I'm not get-
ting involved, ” said Dalton. “But he didn’t.”
Another hero is Dalton, who has labored on
for 35 years, unpaid, not primarily for Po-
lanski but because “it was so unjust and un-
fair,” he said. “Something had to be done for
the integrity of the justice system.”

In Cannes carlier this year, Polanski
showed his latest film, Ferus in Fur, to a stand-
ing ovation. His next project is D, his take on
the Dreyfus affair. It will be written from the
point of view of Colonel Georges Picquart,
the rabidly anti-Semitic investigator who,
realizing that Dreyfus was innocent of trea-
son, spoke up and suffered for it. What was
it in the Dreyfus story that interested him?,
I asked. “The man who was trying to defend
someone he dislikes, but for justice. I mean,
that’s a great subject,” he said. O

Conversation ceased at every table
within ten feet of us.

-HUNTER 5. THOMPSON
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